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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal 1s from a judgment of the United States District Court for the
Southern District of New Y ork (Honorable Colleen McMahon, United States District
Judge), convicting David Williams of one count of conspiracy to use weapons of
mass destruction in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2332a(a)(2)( ¢)(Count One), three counts
of an attempt to use a weapon of mass destruction in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§2332a(a)(2)( c) (Counts Two through Four), one count of conspiracy to acquire and
use anti-aircraft missiles in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§2332¢g(a)(1), (b)(1), (b)(4), (b)(5)
and (c)(1) (Count Five), one count of an attempt to acquire and use anti-aircraft
missiles in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2332g (a)(1), (b)(1), (b)(4), (b)(5) and (c)(1)
(Count Six), one count of a conspiracy to kill officers and employees of the United
States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1114 and 1117 (Count Seven), and one count of
an attempt to kill officers and employees of the United States in violation of 18
U.S.C. §§1114 and 2 (Count Eight). Appellant was sentenced to a term of 25 years
imprisonment on each count, all such terms to run concurrently.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
The district court had subject matter jurisdiction of this federal criminal

prosecution pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3231. Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §3742(a)(1), this
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appeal is taken as of right for review of an otherwise final sentence imposed in
violation of law. Sentence was imposed on June 29, 2011, and a final judgment was
filed on July 8, 2011. A notice of appeal from the final judgment was timely filed on
July 7, 2011.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should the District Court’s entrapment instruction have included an
instruction in accordance with United States v. Hollingsworth, 27 F.3d 1196 (7" Cir.
en banc 1994), including language instructing that, in determining whether the
government has proved predisposition beyond a reasonable doubt, the jurors should
consider whether the defendant was so situated by reason of previous training or
experience or occupation or acquaintances that it is likely that if the government had

not induced him to commit the crime some criminal would have done so?

2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in permitting evidence of an
explosive test demonstration that was inflammatory and whose prejudicial effect

outweighed any probative value?
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3. Should the district court, in imposing sentence, have considered the doctrine

of sentencing manipulation as a basis for departing from the mandatory minimum?

4. David Williams adopts and joins in the appellate points of his co-defendant

appellants.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

Shaheed Hussain, a Pakistani national who was facing a deportation proceeding
following a federal fraud conviction, began working for the FBI in the lower Hudson
valley, where he was eventually instructed to attend services at a mosque in
Newburgh, New York. He drove expensive cars and presented himself as a wealthy
Pakistani businessman in an effort to attract people from the largely poor
congregation. (A.591-592)' Hussain also held himself out as someone knowledgeable
about Islamic teachings. (A. 1382-1383) InJune 2008, Hussain met James Cromitie,
a Wal-Mart worker, at the mosque, beginning a series of talks between the two men.
(A. 596-604) On a number of occasions, Hussain brought Cromitie to a house on

Shipp Street in Newburgh that the FBI had rented and outfitted with video and audio

' References to material in the Joint Appendix submitted by Appellants are
cited herein as “(A.__ ).” References to the separately-filed joint Special
Appendix are cited as “(S.A. ).” References to the trial transcript are cited as
“(Tr.__ ).
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recording equipment that Hussain could activate as he wished. The FBI also had the
capability to equip Hussain with recording devices for his person and his car.
However, it was not until October 12,2008, that Hussain began recording any of their
meetings.

In their talks, Cromitie denounced Jews and the United States, often in strident
and bigoted tones, and voiced angry feelings about particular Jewish people he had
encountered, but also talked about dealing with his angry feelings through his own
religious faith. (A. 2777-2781) Hussain, however, tried to lay a theological
foundation for Cromitie taking violent action. For example, he told Cromitie that the
teachings of the Prophet Mohammed permitted or even required Muslims to commit
violence against non-believers (A. 1376-1377), described Jews and other non-
believers as “evil” and urged that “you, me, all these brothers, have to come up with
a solution to take the evil down. That’s how, it’s the hadith.” (A. 2798-2800) The
first time they met, Hussain raised the topic of Stewart airport, telling Cromitie there
were “a lot of military planes that was taking arms and ammunitions to Afghanistan
and Iraq.” According to Hussain, Cromitie said, “These arms are going to kill
Muslims.” (A. 604)

From the very first recording, Hussain made clear that he had substantial

resources and could help Cromitie financially. “You need something brother, you call
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me, you let me know, brother. Okay?” (A. 2806 ) On October 31, 2008, Hussain
twice told Cromitie, “If you need money, come to me.” (A. 2918; 2920) On
November 14, 2008, Hussain said to Cromitie: “If you need money, I can give you
money.” (A.3118) Over the course of their relationship, Hussain would also give
small amounts of money to Cromitie to help him meet basic living expenses. (A.
1399-1400)

In their early recorded meetings, Cromitie made false and even preposterous
claims regarding his background, his physical prowess and past criminal exploits
committed either by himself or a supposed collection of rough characters with whom
he claimed to have associated. He told Hussain, for example, that he did a thousand
pushups a day (A. 2858), claimed that he had served fifteen years in prison for a
homicide (a claim readily shown to be untrue by running Cromitie’s criminal record),
that his father was from Afghanistan (A. 2773, 2814, 3230), that he and associates
had fired “gas bombs” into a police station, and that one of his brothers had staged
a spectacular jewel heist of Tiffany’s that netted $126 million. (A. 1457-1458)
Sometimes he referred to supposed associates of his as “team” or a “Sutra team.” (A.
1403-1407)

It would become painfully obvious that there was no such “team”. Hussain

kept pressing Cromitie to produce others and made clear that there was money in it
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for them. (A. 1403-1407; 1475-1476) Yet, Cromitie would constantly make excuses
for why he could not produce any such people and told Hussain that these people (if
they even existed) had no ideological motives whatsoever. During one
conversation, Cromitie acknowledged “You can always find someone.. . . if you tell
someone that there’s money involved for them and that you don’t have to worry about
doing nothing where they’re going to get hurt, they’re gonna go, they’re gonna
come.” When Hussain inquired, “But do you think that these guys that you’re talking
about are Mus — will do for the money or for the cause?” Cromitie responded, “they
will do it for the money, they’re not even thinking about the cause.” (A. 3287-3288)
By December 2008, Hussain had spent six months attempting to groom Cromitie as
an FBI target and had come up with nothing except a lot of talk steered by Hussain’s
repeatedly bringing up the subject of doing something for the “cause” and claiming
to have connections to the Pakistani terrorist organization Jaish e Mohammed
(“JEM”). (A. 1399-1401) Hussain became increasingly impatient with Cromitie. He
began offering big material inducements (such as offering Cromitie his BMW upon
completing amission (A. 1231, 1598-1599, 1651-1652)) and became more pro-active
in trying to get Cromitie to recruit others.

For example, on December 10, 2008, Hussain complained to Cromitie “But

29

you’ve not started the first step, brother. Come on.” After Cromitie responded



Case: 11-2763 Document: 86 Page: 13  02/01/2012 515308 60

“Huh?”, Hussain elaborated: “The first step has not been started. You know, with the
target, the recruiting, and the codes.” Cromitie responded, “Maybe it’s not my
mission then. Maybe my mission hasn’t come yet.” (A. 3504)

On December 17, Cromitie remarked that the people he speaks to have
“excuses . . . I tell them, you won’t be part of the booty.” (A.3530-3531)* Hussain
acknowledged this to be “True” (A.3531) Cromitie advised Hussain that he has told
these other persons “there’s a lot of money involved in it for you guys, too. We just
helping out our brotha out,” to which Hussain responded, “True”. (A.3533) During
this conversation, Hussain also launched into what will become a running theme
throughout the recordings —i.e., his repeatedly naming, as potential recruits, specific
persons from the Newburgh mosque, or others in the Newburgh area. Thus, Hussain
inquired of Cromitie, “What do you think about Brother Badi?”” and asked about
another person named Wali, both congregants at the mosque. (A. 3545-3546)
Hussain acknowledged at trial that he was trying to get Cromitie to go out and recruit
people for an operation. (A. 1923-1927)

“We need bodies”

Later in this December 17 conversation, Hussain further pressed for recruits,

referring to them as “bodies”: “The equipment is not a problem. . . We don’t have a

*The government’s transcript writes “booty” somewhat phonetically as “bui.”

7
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problem with equipment. We have a problem with bodies. . . . If you can get the
bodies, the equipment will be here brother. That’s my word. The bodies is what we
need.” (A.3555) He repeated it over and over during the conversation: “If we could
get some bodies it would be nice. If we have bodies it would be nice.” (A. 3542); “If
we have other bodies with us, it would be nice. Ok?” (A. 3543); after Cromitie voiced
displeasure at the word, Hussain repeated: “It’s bodies. B-O-D-D-double X-Y-Y”’ (A.
3543); “It would be nice, brother. It would be really nice. We can have more bodies
with us. Real, good Muslim brothers would be nice, you know?” (A. 3543); “We
need bodies. We need the bodies you know” (A. 3568) Still later in this
conversation, Hussain suggested another name as a recruit, a person named Tariq.
(A. 1927-1929 )* Hussain also told Cromitie how many “bodies” were needed:

“Yeah, but if you can raise a couple of other guys, you know? Two or three more

guys. [ mean it’s not that we are going to rob a bank.” (A. 3601)

*Tariq was a friend of Cromitie who wandered into Hussain’s crosshairs on November 7,
2008, because he happened to be standing outside Cromitie’s house when Hussain drove up one
day. Tariq ended up driving around with them and passing some time at the Shipp Street house
that day, but he said nothing of significance. Yet, Hussain persisted in proposing Tariq as a
recruit for a mission, even after learning from Cromitie that Tariq was not a Muslim. (A. 1927-
1929) Astonishingly, when Agent Fuller applied for a tap on Cromitie’s phone, he swore to
Judge Cote that Tariq was one of several “Target Subjects” planning bombings and missile
attacks.
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As the trial court would later find in a post-verdict decision, the December 17
conversation also evidences that “it was not Cromitie’s idea to shoot a missile at
military aircraft at Stewart Airport” (S.A. 145 ) Thus, on December 17, Hussain
urged Cromitie: “Let’s do the target first. Pick up a target first. Let’s do the
surveillance”. When Cromitie uttered the incomplete sentence “After we grab a target
then (UI)”, Hussain continued to instruct him: “then the people will follow you, you
know? Your brothers will follow you. People like Badi . . . People like Wali. People
. . . they, they’ll follow you, you know? Because this is a good thing”. Cromitie
asked “what do you suggest?”, adding “Stewart Airport?” When Hussain replied “It’s
up to you”, Cromitie reminded Hussain “But that’s the place you told me.” Hussain
acknowledged it was his idea: ““Yeah. Yeah. I told you because airports are close by,
you know? A military target would be fine. You think a military target’s nice, you
know? It’s nice.” (A.3536-3537) Cromitie responded “I think we could do that”,
and seems to go along with Hussain’s idea to go out and view Stewart (he had never
been there before) , but in fact he does nothing. (A. 3537)

After December 17, 2008, Hussain broke off contact with Cromitie for more
than two months in order to travel outside the country. During this break, the FBI —
knowing there was virtually no chance of Cromitie doing anything unless Hussain

was successful in inducing him into (and supplying the means for) a mission — did not
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keep Cromitie under surveillance and assured officials at Stewart airport that
Cromitie posed no real threat. (A. 393-400)

Hussain reestablished contact with Cromitie on February 23, 2009. Hussain
himself had gotten a rude shock three days earlier when, upon returning from
overseas, he was detained at JFK airport. Accustomed to enjoying free traffic in and
out of the United States despite his felony record, this time he had to call his FBI
handler, Agent Robert Fuller, to get “paroled” into the country. Hussain testified that,
as a result of his temporary JFK detention, it dawned on him that he faced possible
deportation as a consequence of his Federal fraud conviction. (A. 1505-1507, 1930-
1938) When he met Cromitie again on February 23, he went about his task with
renewed vigor and a new angle: the “look-out guy.” As Hussain acknowledged at
trial, he —not Cromitie — conceived the idea that Cromitie should try to recruit people
as “look outs” for a mission. He gave this idea to Cromitie on February 24, 2009,
after successfully imploring Cromitie to go with him on a drive around Stewart
airport to conduct what he called “surveillance.” (A. 1945-1947) Moreover, the day
before, on February 23, 2009, Hussain emphasized to Cromitie the need to assemble
a “team” and inquired when Cromitie can “get a couple of other guys.” (A. 3599)

He also introduced the concept of rewarding Cromitie — as well as any recruits — in

10
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“two ways”, meaning they would enjoy a heavenly paradise but, more importantly,
would also be rewarded with cash. (A. 745, 1513-1519, 1933, 1936-1937)

During their February 23, meeting, Hussain urged Cromitie to “speed up the
process” of recruiting people. Cromitie is at first bewildered, “What is you talking
about?” — and then tried to beg off any suggestion that he recruit others — “I don’t
know I wish I coulda gotten somebody else, but I’'m not, I’'m not gonna involve
anybody else.” (A. 3610; 1939-1945). Ignoring Cromitie’s protestation, Hussain
instructed Cromitie: “Talk to the mosque. Talk to the people in the mosque, you
know?”’, Cromitie became angered: “Don’t ask me to do that. .. Don’t ever ask me
to ask the brothers in the mosque to do anything.” (A. 3610-3611) Hearing this,
Hussain switched gears, and instead urged Cromitie to reach out to the Newburgh
community in general to find recruits: “And you, you know the whole town . . .
Mhmm, you know the whole town.” (A.3610-3611; 1939-1945)

During their February 24, 2009, drive around Stewart airport, it is clear that
Cromitie fully understood Hussain’s message about using a lot of money to persuade
people to join in as lookouts. He prefaced one conversation with the words “now that
we’re talking money with these guys I’ll probably get somebody.” (A. 3650) He
went on to refer to the money as “good money” and “you looking not to hurt no one

... you just want to set example.” (A. 3651) “You have to be real stupid to tell me no.

11
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You’re going to be lookout out from $20,000 miles away. They gonna understand.”
(A.3655) He added that he would be able to assure the “brothers” who got involved
that they would not have to “worry” because “You did the job. We’re gonna take care
of you.” (A.3651) Later in that same conversation, Cromitie remarked that Hussain
had given him “an idea”, mainly that he would offer persons $25,000 to act as the
lookouts. (A. 3655) Cromitie added: “If you can assure them that they gonna see
that much money, they gonna go forit.” (A.3691) Hussain responded: “If that’s the
case, ya know, let’s have a meeting.” (A. 3692)

Cromitie avoiding Hussain

After February 24, 2009, there is a hiatus of six weeks, until April 5, 2009,
during which Cromitie avoided and distanced himself from Hussain. He falsely told
Hussain that he was going to stay in North Carolina, something the government knew
from contemporaneous wiretaps of Cromitie’s telephone to be false, as Cromitie had
remained in Newburgh. Hussain, in his zeal to reestablish contact, became something
ofastalker, leaving repeated telephone messages for Cromitie which are not returned,
trying to enlist the assistance of Cromitie’s wife by having her call him from her

phone, and repeatedly showing up outside Cromitie’s home in an unsuccessful effort

to find him. (A. 1547-1562; 1570-1571).

12
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“I told you I can make you $250.000"

Finally, on April 5,2009, Cromitie returned one of Hussain’s calls, after losing
his job at Wal-Mart. During this conversation Cromitie falsely told Hussain that he
had been away in North Carolina. After telling Hussain “I need to make some money
brother,” Hussain responded, “I told you I can make you $250,000, but you don’t
want it brother. What can I tell you?” As the trial court would later find in one of its
post-trial written decisions, Hussain was referring here to a previous, unrecorded
offer of a quarter-million dollars that he had made to Cromitie back in February as an
inducement to join a mission. (S.A. 71-72). Upon Hussain making the offer again on
April 5, Cromitie agreed to meet with Hussain again, a meeting which took place two
days later on April 7. (A. 1571-1576; 4484-4487).

“My life 1s on the line here” — “We need lookout guys”

At the April 7, 2009, meeting, Cromitie was reluctant to get involved in a
mission with Hussain (“I really don’t have to do nothing crazy as of yet. . .. I think
I need to really, really think about this ... You just have to give me a little time. . .
I’'m going through so much . . . I’'m about to lose my mother.”) (A. 3704 )
Undeterred, Hussain told Cromitie that his “brothers” wanted him to finish the job,
and that “my life is on the line here,” making clear that his “brothers” will harm him

if he fails to complete the mission (A. 3714-3716) When this seemed to soften

13
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Cromitie’s resistance — “don’t do that, Brother”, he pleaded to Hussain when the
latter tells Cromitie his life is at stake (A. 3716) — Hussain relentlessly pressed
Cromitie on the need to recruit “lookouts”, while making clear that they will be paid:

“if we... getacouple of guys - - lookouts . . . but they have to believe in, its
not only the money. . . the lookout guys have to believe in it.” (A. 3717);

“we need to have lookout guys” (A. 3727);

“and we need to have some lookout guys you know. I think there’s a couple of
guys in the mosque.” (A. 3728);

“and we need lookout guys. We need lookout guys; we can find some lookout
guys who . . . believe in the cause, I believe there are a couple of them . . . you can
talk to them.” (A. 3729)

When Cromitie asked, “do you know who you’re talking about?”, Hussain
suggested a couple of names from the mosque (A. 3729)

“if you can get 2-3 guys , you know, lookouts . . you tell them as much as you

can . . .it should be for the cause, less for the money, more for the cause.” (A. 3732-

3733)*

“Hussain’s efforts to create a conspiracy and fill its ranks with warm bodies comes
through clear enough in the transcript of the April 7 conversation. It is, however, a tape worth
viewing to best appreciate the utter transparency of his agenda, as Hussain keeps bringing the
conversation around to the subject of “lookout guys”, sometimes in a patently non-sequitur
fashion.

14
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That evening, Cromitie spoke on the telephone with Hussain, during which
Hussain promised Cromitie an all-expense paid trip to Puerto Rico. Cromitie told
him that his friend “Daoud” said hello, prompting Hussain to inquire whether that
person could be “part of us.” Cromitie told him no. (A. 4488-4491)

On April 10, 2009, Hussain drove to Cromitie’s residence, from where he
intended to buy a camera for Cromitie and then proceed to the Riverdale section of
the Bronx (a destination pre-selected by the FBI). That day, David Williams, who
had never before appeared or been heard on any recordings, was outside Cromitie’s
apartment building. At the time, Williams was living with his mother in the same
housing project as Cromitie. Because Williams’ mother was a close friend of
Cromitie’s wife, Cromitie referred to him informally as his “nephew.” (A. 789-791;
1966-1968)

Williams rode along with Cromitie and Hussain to Riverdale, where Cromitie
took photographs of synagogues, using the camera that Hussain bought for him.
(Cromitie had told Hussain he accidentally broke the first camera that Hussain bought
in February; in reality, Cromitie had sold it for $60.) Although David Williams, who
was introduced to Hussain as “Daoud”, accompanied them, he asked no questions
about what the men were doing, nor did Cromitie or Hussain discuss any details in

front of Williams. Hussain bought lunch for the men, continuing a practice of
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constantly paying for meals and beverages that he had begun months earlier with
Cromitie. Afterwards, Hussain took them to the vicinity of Stewart airport, where
Cromitie took more pictures. Later that day, Hussain privately asked Cromitie
whether Williams was involved with them, and Cromitie told him emphatically that
Williams was not. (A. 789-795)

Yet, when Hussain and Cromitie met a few days later on April 16, 2009,
Hussain pressed Cromitie to recruit David Williams as a “lookout guy”. When
Cromitie remarked that he can “take care of Daoud” with “whatever monies you give
me,” Hussain insisted he would give him “separate money”, adding, in self-serving
fashion, “this is not for the money, you’re not doing it for the money at all” (A.
3762-3763) Hussain admitted at trial that he was giving the impression that it was
“alot of money.” (A.1646-1648) Cromitie also told Hussain that he had not spoken
with David Williams about an operation and that after the April 10 trip to Riverdale,
Williams had been arrested on a minor marihuana charge in New York city and was
now serving a ten-day jail sentence.” Hussain promptly offered to bail him out and

to drive to the New York city jail where Williams was held to “pick him up”,

*Under New York law, a person serving a 10-day sentence would normally serve six days
(including the day of arrest), factoring in good-time reductions. New York Penal Law § 70.30(4).
Although the trial court, in its decision denying defendants’ post-trial motions to dismiss for
legal insufficiency, found that Williams was released on April 20 (S.A. 118-120), this was
incorrect, as he could have been released days earlier.
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although he never did. Cromitie “wonder[ed]” about Williams, citing his recent
arrest, the fact that “he slips up alot” and that he is “not careful”. Hussain concurred,
calling him “Stupid David.” (A. 1962-1966; A. 3738-3746)

Far from dissuading Hussain, however, this assessment of Williams seemed to
only stiffen Hussain’s resolve to draw Williams in. The next day, April 17, Hussain
again pressed Cromitie to involve David Williams, inquiring whether “he is with us
or not.” Cromitie responded “you can’t say yet.” Having now been told at least four
times that William was not involved, Hussain nonetheless pressed for Williams’
recruitment. He concocted the idea that Williams’ services are needed because “that
missile thing is heavy to pick up, and we have to putitina ... SUV right there.
There’s a space up there. We can put it in there, but, uh, if Umar can, [ mean, Daoud
can be with us, you know, that would be wonderful. It would be really good.” (A.
3795)

Around this time, Hussain also began using the recorded conversations to
make it sound like the reward money Hussain was offering was to fund travel
expenses. He pushed the idea of Cromitie traveling to Florida, or some other
destination, “when everything is done”, adding that when Cromitie returned from
there “then you can start doing whatever you want to do.” When Cromitie asked:

“What are you saying?”, Hussain clarified: “I am saying you will, inshallah, you will
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have enough here to do what you want to do.” (A. 3759) Cromitie pushed back at
the idea of traveling, saying, “technically, we really wouldn’t have to go nowhere,
‘cause they’ll never know.” Hussain added that it is not for “money” but “for Allah”
and Cromitie responded, “Yeah, [ know, but I need to know, where do we pick up our
money.” Hussain told him it will be jihad money and Cromitie commented “they’re
paying us to do this.” Cromitie then said that the first thing he will do with his money
is “get me a car” and Hussain replied, “buy a brand new car, brother.”® (A. 3763-
3784)

During the April 17, 2009, conversation Hussain became more directly
involved in trying to recruit persons. “I think we can get Daoud, Chase and I think
I can get Wali too,” he told Cromitie (A. 3801 ). Cromitie told Hussain that he will
stress to prospective lookouts that “me and you going to do the stuff, we just want

them to look out, that’s it.” Hussain agreed, saying “the lookout guys”, putting an

5Although Hussain tried to fudge the point in his testimony, he would admit at trial that
the money offered to Cromitie and recruits was reward money that the men could spend as they
wished, and not expense money to fund some post-mission travel. (A. 1939). However, in a
debriefing with the FBI held on November 13, 2009 (months after the arrests and prompted by
defense pre-trial demands that the government disclose evidence of inducements), Hussain would
claim that the only money offered to recruits was expense money so they could leave the area for
a time after the operation. (A. 1649-1650). Evidently, Hussain thought the money offers would
be viewed as more palatable if presented as expense money rather than outright cash payments.
On the tapes, he unsuccessfully tries to sell Cromitie (and, later, David Williams) on the
importance of traveling after a mission, evidently in the hope that he could later argue that he had
only offered expense money. Of course, at trial, Hussain could not credibly sustain that
deception, and admitted that he was offering cash that the men could spend as they wished.
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inflection in his voice that clearly that suggests they are not asking much of these
lookouts. “Me and you”, continued Cromitie, “as a matter of fact, we just letting ‘em
know. And nobody is getting hurt so you don’t have to worry about it.” Hussain
heartily agreed, to the point of conferring a religious blessing on it: “It’s Allah
subhana wa tala [peace be upon Him] and nothing more”. Cromitie reiterated:
“And, and, let ‘em know, we, don’t, nobody is gonna be hurt, so don’t go worrying.”
Hussain approved as well, saying, “Insha’Allah [God willing].” (A. 3801)

Not content to trust Cromitie to do the recruiting, Hussain, soon afterward
approached Wali at the mosque (the same Wali he had been proposing as a potential
recruit for months), and asked him directly if he would participate in a jithad mission.
(A. 839-840).

On April 23, 2009, David Williams appeared for the first time at the Shipp
Street house with Cromitie. Hussain told Williams he could only be in it for Allah
and jihad and not money, but Cromitie assured Williams, without contradiction by
Hussain, that “they givin’ us money anyway.” Hussain told Williams, “If you’re
doing it for the money, don’t do it. I don’t want you to do it.” Williams said that he
understood “perfectly. He told me.” (A. 3834-3836) Hussain, who had learned that
Williams’ younger brother was ill and in the hospital, offered to take Williams to visit

his brother at the hospital (proposing to combine that with a surveillance trip and a

19



Case: 11-2763 Document: 86 Page: 26  02/01/2012 515308 60

trip to retrieve a Stinger missile), but never made good on that promise. (A. 2002-
2006, 3751, 3832-3833)

On April 24, Hussain drove the men around Stewart airport, after first stopping
to buy them breakfast. (A. 3880-3881) At first, he stopped at the intersection of
Route 17K and a residential side street called Fletcher Avenue, where they could see
a number of giant C5 cargo planes parked at the airport across the street. Williams
took some of the pictures with the camera supplied by Hussain. Hussain pulled his
car onto the lawn of a property that bordered 17K, which immediately brought the
owner out to confront the men. Hussain then turned to Cromitie and Williams, and
specifically asked for Williams’ opinion on that spot. After Williams made the
obvious point that it was a place where one could easily get caught, as opposed to the
other side of the airport, Hussain drove around to the other side. (A. 2006-2011;
3891-3897) Hussain was already familiar with the access roads surrounding the
airport, having been given a tour by the FBI back in February “so he would be able
to transport Cromitie and show him different locations that he would be interested in
selecting.” (A. 148-149) However, it was Hussain, not Cromitie or Williams, who
selected a location, directing their attention to a “small hill” (which Agent Fuller
dubbed the “grassy knoll”’) from which C5 cargo planes could be seen parked at the

airport. They agreed it was a good spot, but Williams added “We want to just destroy
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property, we don’t want to take no lives”, to which Cromitie agreed. Williams
somehow thought that, in the immediate aftermath of the operation, it would it would
be a good idea to stay at a Marriott Hotel that bordered the airport, and Hussain
agreed. (A.2006-2011;3905-3911)

On April 28, the two other “lookouts”, Onta Williams and Laguerre Payen,
appeared for the first time. During a meeting at the Shipp Street house with Hussain
and all four men, Hussain explained to the three recruits: “Your job is lookout. You
don’t meet us. We don’t meet you . .. You don’t know us. We don’t know you™ (A.
4084) and also preached to them that “Prophet Mohammed did jithad. He fought five
wars, so theres’ nothing wrong with wars”. (A.4082). Cromitie emphasized that the
lookouts would be “nowhere in sight”. (A. 4079) When Cromitie privately raised
concerns about Payen, who was “a little slow”, Hussain dismissed that by stressing
the limited role of the lookout: “He’s a lookout. That’s all we need, is a lookout.” (A.
3972) When Cromitie raised that same concern on another occasion that day, Hussain
responded: “These guys are going to stand in the corner, and they’ve done it a

million times, and they’re gonna lookout.” ” (A. 3995)

"Hussain was using hyperbole here to stress how easy it was to be a lookout. There was
no evidence that these men had ever previously filled that role “a million times”, or even once.
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Hussain regularly bought meals for the men when they were in his company.
He also gave them small amounts of money for basic living expenses, such as
groceries and rent, and gave David Williams $60 for train fare to visit his newborn
child in a Brooklyn hospital. None of the men had a car or even a drivers license and
went nowhere in connection with this case except as passengers in Hussain’s
automobiles.

Hussain had been pushing the four men to help him buy guns and on April 30,
he drove Cromitie and David Williams to Brooklyn for that purpose (after first giving
David’s mother a lift to the Westchester Medical Center to visit David’s still
hospitalized younger brother). Hussain gave Williams $900 of government money
to obtain two guns from inside a housing project, but Williams emerged with only one
gun and handed Hussain only $200 in change, meaning that he had either overpaid
for that single gun or pocketed the difference. Although Hussain would deny it at
trial, he appears on tape to have believed the latter, as he becomes noticeably angered
with Williams. (A. 2021-2027) The gun never figured into anything after that. The
FBI took possession of it and removed the firing pin. On days when Hussain brought
the men to a storage facility in New Windsor, New York (just south of Newburgh),
the FBI would put the gun inside the storage unit, in case anyone of the men asked

for it. However, none of the four defendants ever asked to have the gun during or
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prior to the op